S211645

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

J.R. MARKETING, L.L.C. et al.,

Cross-Defendants and Respondents,

v.

HARTFORD CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Cross-Complainant and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT FILED

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION THREE CASE No. A133750

NOV 1 9 2013

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

[Supplemental Motion for Judicial Notice filed concurrently herewith.]

HORVITZ & LEVY LLP

*DAVID M. AXELRAD (BAR NO. 75731)
EMILY V. CUATTO (BAR NO. 260394)
15760 VENTURA BOULEVARD, 18TH FLOOR
ENCINO, CALIFORNIA 91436-3000
(818) 995-0800 • FAX: (818) 995-3157
daxelrad@horvitzlevy.com
ecuatto@horvitzlevy.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Where an insurer has been denied the protection of Civil Code section 2860 (section 2860), may independent *Cumis* counsel shift to its clients liability for reimbursement of unreasonable and unnecessary legal fees? Or do the principles articulated in *Buss v*. Superior Court (1997) 16 Cal.4th 35 (*Buss*) and the established common-law remedies for money wrongfully received give an insurer a common law, quasi-contractual right to maintain a direct action against *Cumis* counsel for reimbursement of unreasonable and unnecessary defense fees and costs?

INTRODUCTION

Hartford Casualty Insurance Company (Hartford) paid over \$15 million to defend its insureds, including \$13.5 million to their independent (Cumis) attorneys, Squire Sanders & Dempsey LLP (Squire Sanders). After the close of litigation against its insureds. Hartford brought a reimbursement action against Cumis counsel and the insureds for unreasonable and unnecessary fees and costs paid by Hartford to Squire Sanders. The trial court and the Court of Appeal held as a matter of law that Hartford could not seek reimbursement directly against Cumis counsel, but could pursue such claims only against the insureds. The result is that the insured clients are left solely responsible to Hartford for their lawyers' rampant overbilling, and their *Cumis* lawyers face no responsibility to Hartford. A trial court has now issued a tentative statement of decision finding that Hartford is entitled to nearly \$5 million in reimbursement from its insureds related to Squire Sanders' overbilling.

This Court has granted review to consider what the Court of Appeal characterized as a "slight step further" in the law. (Typed opn. 14.) Rather than moving the law forward, however, the Court of Appeal's holding takes a big step back—away from the long-standing common law of restitution, away from important public policies, and away from pragmatic resolution of disputes over *Cumis* fees.

The trial court, which made its tentative reimbursement award to Hartford after the Court of Appeal's decision, expressed frank concern "about the effect of this decision on the insured[s], who will be required to pay this judgment." (See Supp. MJN, exh. A, p. 26.) The insureds likely never reviewed the bills with the "thought in mind that they actually might have to pay the bills" and did not have the "financial ability [to] pay this Court's order." As the trial court noted, this put the insureds in an untenable position. They can file for bankruptcy, ask their former Cumis counsel to give them \$5 million, or sue their former Cumis counsel (if they can find the lawyers and the money to do so). (*Ibid.*) If they sue their lawyers, they will have to contend that their former Cumis counsel's fees were unreasonable—a position directly contrary to what they argued in the reimbursement action below, where, still represented by Squire Sanders, they vigorously defended the reasonableness of Squire Sanders' fees. Though obviously reluctant to place this burden solely on the insureds, the trial court concluded that it was bound to do so "unless and until such time as the California Supreme Court rules differently." (*Ibid*.) Hartford asks this Court to do so now.

The courts below held that when an insurer initially disputes coverage, but is then found to have a duty to defend, it forfeits the right to invoke certain aspects of section 2860, even for fees incurred after the insurer begins defending. As relevant here, the courts below held that, although Hartford was required only to pay "reasonable and necessary" fees and costs, Hartford could not arbitrate fee disputes with *Cumis* counsel during the course of the case. Instead, it had to pay each bill as presented, and then bring a reimbursement action after the matter concluded. But when

Hartford tried to do exactly that, suing Squire Sanders for millions of dollars in unreasonable charges, the Court of Appeal took its "step further." It held that an insurer precluded from contemporaneous arbitration of fee disputes with *Cumis* counsel under section 2860 can *never* sue *Cumis* counsel, no matter how excessive and unreasonable its fees.

Nothing in *Buss*—or any other authority—supports that conclusion. An insurer should be able to bring a single action for reimbursement against both its insureds and *Cumis* counsel.¹

Long-standing common law principles support this approach, which Hartford followed here. The law of restitution requires one who has been unjustly enriched at the expense of another to restore the funds unjustly received. Squire Sanders received approximately \$13.5 million in legal fees and costs from Hartford. To the extent those fees and costs were unreasonable and unnecessary, Squire Sanders was unjustly enriched at Hartford's expense, and Hartford should be able to bring a restitution claim directly against Squire Sanders.

The Court of Appeal appeared concerned that a direct reimbursement action would interfere with *Cumis* counsel's independence and relationship with the insured. That concern was unwarranted. By its very nature, a *post*-litigation reimbursement action occurs only after the underlying case is resolved, when there is no remaining attorney-client relationship between the insured and *Cumis* counsel that could be disrupted.

The extent to which Hartford has a claim for reimbursement against its insureds in this case is not at issue in this appeal.

The Court of Appeal was also influenced by its view that permitting Hartford to proceed against *Cumis* counsel directly through a reimbursement action would somehow place Hartford in a better position than insurers who arbitrate their fee claims against *Cumis* counsel under section 2860. But, from the insurer's perspective, contemporaneous arbitration under section 2860 is a far superior remedy to a post-litigation reimbursement action in the trial court. Section 2860 arbitration is speedy and efficient, and permits *ongoing* dispute resolution so that bills can be adjusted and issues addressed immediately. A post-litigation reimbursement action, by contrast, often will take place years after the conduct has occurred and the bills have been paid.

Under the Court of Appeal's rule, *Cumis* counsel can bill any amount, no matter how excessive, and pass on the burden of these excessive fees to its client or, if the client is judgment proof, to the client's insurer. Such a result puts the burden on the wrong parties, creates inefficiencies in the legal process by requiring two actions when one will do, and creates an incentive for rampant overbilling practices—all contrary to the public policy of this state. This Court should reverse the decision of the Court of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Hartford is ordered to pay "reasonable and necessary" costs for its insureds' retention of Squire Sanders as Cumis counsel, subject to a right of reimbursement at the end of the underlying litigation.

Hartford issued business insurance policies to J.R. Marketing, LLC and Noble Locks Enterprises, Inc. (1 AA 8-9.) The policies insured the companies, as well as members and employees acting within the scope of their employment, against certain defamation and disparagement claims.(1 AA 59.)

Shortly after the policies were issued, in September 2005, Meir Avganim and others sued J.R. Marketing and several of its employees in Marin County Superior Court alleging defamation, among other things (the Marin Action). (1 AA 9, 60.) Related actions were filed in Nevada and Virginia involving many of the same parties. (1 AA 9-10.)

The Complaint in the Marin Action alleged that the plaintiffs learned for the first time in August 2005 that "'on earlier dates,'" the defendants had made disparaging remarks, and that the conduct had begun "'in or about 2004.'" (1 AA 63-64.) Hartford initially disclaimed coverage, and took the position that the Marin Action fell within a policy exception excluding from coverage injury "'[a]rising out of oral, written or electronic publication of material whose first publication took place before the beginning of the policy period.'" (1 AA 64.) Hartford invited the insureds to provide

additional information if they thought Hartford was wrong. (1 AA 60.) In January 2006, the insureds did so, sending Hartford information showing that some defamatory statements were made within the coverage period, and in March, Hartford agreed to defend the Marin Action subject to a reservation of rights. (1 AA 60, 65.) Hartford retained panel counsel and agreed to pay for the insureds' reasonable and necessary fees and costs going forward from the date they provided evidence supporting possible coverage. (See 1 AA 60.)

While Hartford was reviewing the materials, the insureds sued, alleging that Hartford's initial denial breached the insurance policies. (1 AA 9, 60.) On July 26, 2006, the trial court entered a summary adjudication order holding that Hartford had a duty to defend under the J.R. Marketing policy as of the date of the original tender (rather than as of the date when the insureds provided evidence supporting possible coverage). (See 1 AA 9-10.) The trial court also held that due to Hartford's reservation of rights, Hartford had a duty to provide independent *Cumis* counsel to defend its insureds in the Marin Action. (1 AA 10, 71.)

Just two weeks later, the insureds moved to enforce the order, arguing that Hartford had not adequately complied because it had paid some, but not all, of the defense costs incurred. (1 AA 10-11, 60.) The trial court granted the motion, ordering that "Hartford must pay all of the insureds' invoices tendered to Hartford as of August 1, 2006 within 15 days of the date of this Order. Hartford must pay all future reasonable and necessary defense costs within 30 days of receipt. To the extent Hartford seeks to challenge fees and costs as unreasonable or unnecessary, it may do so by way of

reimbursement after resolution of the [Marin] matter." (1 AA 2, 10-11 (hereafter Immediate Payment Order).) While the trial court held that Hartford could not invoke section 2860² to limit *Cumis* counsel to those rates regularly paid to Hartford's panel counsel, it also held that Squire Sanders' "bills still must be reasonable and necessary." (1 AA 2.) Squire Sanders, which had drafted the order for the court's signature (1 AA 1-2), was thus aware of this important limitation on Hartford's obligation.

The trial court's orders were upheld on appeal, including the portion of the order providing that Hartford could assert "any challenge to the reasonableness or necessity of defense bills . . . [in] an action for reimbursement following the conclusion of the [Marin action]." (1 AA 76; see 1 AA 2, 77-78.)

² Section 2860, subdivision (c), provides in relevant part: "The insurer's obligation to pay fees to the independent counsel selected by the insured is limited to the rates which are actually paid by the insurer to attorneys retained by it in the ordinary course of business in the defense of similar actions in the community where the claim arose or is being defended. . . . Any dispute concerning attorney's fees not resolved by these methods shall be resolved by final and binding arbitration by a single neutral arbitrator selected by the parties to the dispute."

B. Four years and more than \$15 million in legal fees later, the underlying action against Hartford's insureds concludes and Hartford files its reimbursement action.

Squire Sanders sent Hartford approximately \$13.5 million in bills to defend the case, and Hartford paid them pursuant to the Immediate Payment Order. (Supp. MJN, exh. A, p. 9; see also 1 AA 11.)3 After the underlying actions had settled, the insureds' bad faith claim against Hartford, which was stayed by agreement of the parties during the underlying litigation, resumed. (Ibid.)Consistent with the Immediate Payment Order, Hartford filed a first amended cross-complaint, asserting claims against both the and Squire Sanders for reimbursement, unjust insureds enrichment, an accounting of money had and received, and rescission. (1 AA 6-17, 89.) Hartford alleged that it was entitled to reimbursement of a significant portion of the legal fees and costs it paid because, among other reasons, Squire Sanders billed Hartford for unreasonable, unnecessary and unconscionable fees which were beyond Hartford's legal obligation to pay, in violation of Squire Sanders' professional and ethical obligations, and contrary to the trial court's order, which had required Hartford to pay only "reasonable and necessary" defense costs. (1 AA 2, emphasis added; see also 1 AA 12, 13.)

³ Hartford paid approximately \$15 million in total to defend its insureds, but some amount of that was paid to firms other than Squire Sanders.

C. Squire Sanders successfully demurs to Hartford's cross-complaint on the ground that it is not a proper party to Hartford's reimbursement action.

Squire Sanders represented itself in the reimbursement action. (See 1 AA 18-47.) Squire Sanders also continued to represent the insureds, even as it argued that they—and not Squire Sanders—should be responsible for any obligation to repay unreasonable and unnecessary bills that it had submitted. (*Ibid.*)

The trial court permitted Hartford's reimbursement and rescission claims against the insureds to go forward. (2 AA 430-431.) But, it dismissed Hartford's claims against Squire Sanders, holding that Hartford could not bring a reimbursement action against a law firm hired as *Cumis* counsel to represent its insureds, and that Hartford was instead limited to seeking reimbursement solely from the insureds. (2 AA 430-431, 459; RT 3-4.)

D. The Court of Appeal affirms.

Hartford appealed the dismissal of the claims against Squire Sanders and the Court of Appeal affirmed. The Court acknowledged Hartford's right to seek reimbursement of unreasonable and unnecessary fees once the lawsuit was resolved. "However, having acknowledged this right... the question remains against whom may the insurer assert this right." (Typed opn. 11.) The court ultimately held that Hartford could not "maintain a direct suit against Squire [Sanders], independent counsel for certain cross-

defendants in the Marin action . . . for reimbursement of excessive or otherwise improperly invoiced defense fees and costs[.]" (Typed opn. 8.)

The Court of Appeal recognized that its conclusion was an expansion of existing law, which merely precludes insurers from controlling the defense when independent *Cumis* counsel is required. (Typed opn. 14.) The court offered three rationales for its novel conclusion.

First, the Court of Appeal concluded that it would be unfair to let Hartford sue *Cumis* counsel in a post-litigation reimbursement action when insurers who provide *Cumis* counsel must ordinarily arbitrate fee disputes under section 2860. Litigation, it thought, would give Hartford "more rights in a fee dispute with independent counsel" than it would have in arbitration, putting it in a better position than an insurer that had not breached its duty to defend. (Typed opn. 14.)

Second, the Court of Appeal theorized that permitting Hartford to bring a post-litigation reimbursement action to recover padded fees paid to *Cumis* counsel would amount to "[r]etroactively imposing the insurer's choice of fee arrangement" or strategy on the insured, undermining the insured's right to be defended by counsel independent of the insurer's control. (Typed opn. 13.) To avoid this perceived threat, the court concluded it must "take[] the law one slight step further," limiting an insurer who believes it was bilked by *Cumis* counsel to suing only its insured, instead of suing *Cumis* counsel. (Typed opn. 14.)

Finally, the court did not understand how Hartford could seek restitution from Squire Sanders because "Squire [Sanders] did not confer any benefit upon Hartford." (Typed opn. 15.) The court did not explain why it focused on the lack of benefits to Hartford, when Hartford's claim involved a benefit going the other way: money Hartford paid to Squire Sanders that Squire Sanders had unjustly kept.

E. A jury finds Hartford did not act in bad faith and the trial court tentatively finds the insureds must reimburse Hartford millions of dollars in excessive and unreasonable fees that Squire Sanders collected.

While this appeal was pending in the Court of Appeal, Hartford's reimbursement action against the insureds went to trial, as did the insureds' bad faith action against Hartford. (See Supp. MJN, exh. A, p. 1.) The trial court bifurcated the claims because the reimbursement action was equitable in nature (and thus triable to the court), but the bad faith claim was legal in nature (and thus triable to a jury). (See Supp. MJN, exh. A, p. 3.)

The jury found for the insureds on the breach of contract claim, but denied the bad faith claims, finding that Hartford had acted in good faith when it disputed coverage and in its handling of the tendered claims. (Supp. MJN, exh. A, p. 3.)

Hartford's cross-claim for reimbursement proceeded as a bench trial several months later, from February 28, 2013 to March 11, 2013. (Supp. MJN, exh. A, p. 3.) After hearing the evidence, the

trial court ruled in its tentative statement of decision that Hartford is entitled to be reimbursed \$4,997,395 that it paid for unreasonable and unnecessary legal services billed by Squire Sanders. (Supp. MJN, exh. A, p. 26.)

Because the Court of Appeal had previously held that Hartford could not sue *Cumis* counsel directly, the insureds bear the entire burden of this liability. The trial court noted that it was "concerned about the effect of this decision on the insured[s]." (Supp. MJN, exh. A, p. 26.) They operated a "'mom and pop' type business," and seemingly lacked the ability and understanding "to review the attorney fee bills they were receiving to determine if the fees and costs were reasonable or necessary." (*Ibid.*) Indeed, the court doubted the insureds had any expectation that they would ever be responsible for paying the bills. (*Ibid.*) The evidence at trial "clearly showed that they did not have the financial ability to pay their own attorney fees." (*Ibid.*)

The court concluded, "[w]ithout the financial ability [to] pay this Court's order to reimburse Hartford, the insured[s] are being placed in the difficult position of having to ask their attorneys to pay the judgment or possibly filing for bankruptcy." (Supp. MJN, exh. A, p. 26.) The trial court recognized the injustice. But, the court observed that its hands were tied by the Court of Appeal's decision, at least until this Court held otherwise. (*Ibid.*)

LEGAL DISCUSSION

- I. HARTFORD CAN PURSUE REIMBURSEMENT DIRECTLY AGAINST SQUIRE SANDERS, THE PARTY THAT RECEIVED THE EXCESS PAYMENT.
- A. Basic principles of restitution require Squire Sanders to reimburse Hartford for excessive and unreasonable fees that Squire Sanders billed and collected.

An insurer's right to reimbursement of defense fees and costs is governed by the law of restitution. (American Motorists Ins. Co. v. Superior Court (1998) 68 Cal.App.4th 864, 874 [describing insurer's request for reimbursement as a "restitution" claim]; see also Buss, supra, 16 Cal.4th at pp. 50-51 [same].) The fundamental principles of the law of restitution thus control, and compel the conclusion that Squire Sanders was unjustly enriched when it received excess payments for unreasonable attorney fee bills, and that it must restore the excess payments.

The basic principles of the law of restitution are long-settled and universally followed. "A person who is unjustly enriched at the expense of another is subject to liability in restitution." (Rest.3d Restitution & Unjust Enrichment, § 1; accord, e.g., Earhart v. William Low Co. (1979) 25 Cal.3d 503, 510-511.) "A person is enriched if he receives a benefit at another's expense." (Ghirardo v. Antonioli (1996) 14 Cal.4th 39, 51.) Money is the most obvious kind of "benefit." (County of Solano v. Vallejo Redevelopment Agency

(1999) 75 Cal.App.4th 1262, 1278-1279 [summarizing rules; finding municipality was liable to restore \$3.5 million in payments it received]; Rest., Restitution & Unjust Enrichment, § 150 ["In an action of restitution in which the benefit received was money, the measure of recovery for this benefit is the amount of money received"].)

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