No. S211645

IN THE

JAN 1 7 2014

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

HARTFORD CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant, Cross-Complainant, and Appellant

٧.

J.R. MARKETING, LLC, JANE A. RATTO, ROBERT E. RATTO, PENELOPE A. KANE, LENORE DEMARTINIS, GERMAIN DEMARTINIS, SCOTT HARRINGTON, SQUIRE SANDERS (US) LLP,

Plaintiffs, Cross-Defendants, and Respondents.

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal, First Appellate District,
Division Three, No. A133750
San Francisco County Superior Court, No. CGC-06449220,
The Honorable Ronald E. Quidachay; The Honorable Loretta Giorgi;
The Honorable Lynn O'Malley-Taylor

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

¹² Hartford also cites a tentative draft statement issued by the American Law Institute. (See AOB at p. 20.) But this tentative draft provides no authority or explanation for the novel proposition Hartford cites it for, and has not been adopted as final.

2. Quasi-Contractual Restitution Is Inappropriate
Where The Alleged "Benefits" Conferred By The
Insurer Are *Incidental* To The Insurer's Performance
Of Its Pre-Existing Contractual Obligations.

Hartford's invocation of "basic principles of restitution" (AOB at p. 14) fails, because it simply disregards longstanding limitations on restitution in circumstances such as these. The Restatement (First) of Restitution, cited approvingly by this Court on numerous occasions (see, e.g., AIU Insurance Company v. Superior Court (1990) 51 Cal.3d 807, 835), makes clear that "[a] person who, incidentally to the performance of his own duty or to the protection or improvement of his own things, has conferred a benefit upon another, is not thereby entitled to contribution." (Rest., Restitution, § 106, italics added.) Because Hartford was obligated, both contractually and as a matter of insurance law, to pay for the Insureds' defense costs, any benefits resulting from the payment of those funds was simply incidental to Hartford's "performance of [its] own duty" and pre-existing obligations. Therefore, Hartford cannot now properly seek restitution of those funds in quasi-contract from a third party such as Cumis counsel.

The principle set out in Section 106—that a plaintiff cannot recover in quasi-contract for conferring a benefit that is merely

incidental to the performance of plaintiff's preexisting obligations—is a well-established principle of California law. (See, e.g., 1 Witkin Summary of Cal. Law, § 1020 ["It is even more obvious that, where the plaintiff acts in performance of his or her own duty or in protection or improvement of the plaintiff's own property, any incidental benefit conferred on the defendant is not unjust enrichment."].) The commentary to Section 106 is highly instructive:

A and B are adjoining mine owners whose mines have been flooded by seepage from a near-by swamp.... C had contracted to keep water out of A's mine, and he drains the swamp in the performance of his duty to A. C is not entitled to contribution from B.

(Rest., Restitution, § 106 cmt.) Just like party C in this illustration, Hartford had contracted to pay the Insureds' defense costs. (1 AA 8-9.) Under Section 106, any incidental benefit to Squire Sanders from this contractual arrangement cannot serve as the basis for a valid claim in quasi-contract, as the Court of Appeal recognized in California Medical Association, Inc. v. Aetna U.S. Healthcare of California (2001) 94 Cal.App.4th 151 (CMA).

In *CMA*, the plaintiffs, a group of physicians, sought restitution from defendant health-plan operators, who had bargained with certain plan administrator intermediaries to pay participating physicians for

their services. (*Id.* at pp. 156-158.) The plaintiffs did not, however, enter into contracts with the defendant health-plan operators themselves—rather, the plaintiffs entered into express contracts only with the intermediaries who would actually make payments to them. (*Ibid.*)

Even though no contract existed directly between the plaintiffs and the defendants in CMA, the Court of Appeal properly rejected the plaintiffs' claim for restitution because "any benefit conferred upon defendants by [plaintiffs] was simply an incident to [plaintiffs'] performance of their own obligations to Intermediaries under the Intermediary-Physician Agreements." (Id. at p. 174, italics added, citing Rest., Restitution, § 106; see also Dinosaur Development, Inc. v. White (1989) 216 Cal.App.3d 1310, 1313-1314; Major-Blakeney Corp. v. Jenkins (1953) 121 Cal.App.2d 325, 340-341.) Because the plaintiffs entered into contracts with the intermediaries in which the plaintiff physicians agreed to provide medical services to the health plan defendants' members, the fact the health plans may have incidentally benefitted "[wa]s not unjust enrichment." (CMA, supra, 94 Cal.App.4th at p. 174.)

Federal courts have also applied this limitation on the otherwise amorphous reach of quasi-contract. In *Oregon Laborers-Employers Health & Welfare Trust Fund v. Philip Morris, Inc.* (9th Cir. 1999) 185 F.3d 957 (*Oregon Laborers*), for example, the Ninth Circuit relied on similar logic, invoking Section 106 to reject an analogous quasi-contractual claim. There, the plaintiffs were health care providers obligated to pay the health care costs incurred by individual plan members. Some plan members suffered from cancer, possibly resulting from years of smoking. (*Id.* at p. 961.) The plaintiff health care providers sued defendant cigarette manufacturers seeking restitution for the costs of cancer treatment for these individuals. (*Ibid.*)

The Ninth Circuit rejected the plaintiffs' claim for restitution, concluding that any benefits defendant cigarette manufacturers received from plaintiff health care providers (by virtue of not having to pay for smoking-related injuries for which they may otherwise have had to pay) was simply incidental to the plaintiffs' performance of their contractual obligations to their plan members. (*Id.* at pp. 968-969 ["Moreover, because plaintiffs had an independent obligation to pay the smokers' medical expenses, they cannot maintain an action

for unjust enrichment against defendants just because defendants were incidentally benefitted."].)13

Both CMA and Oregon Laborers thus recognized an important limitation on the "traditional principles of restitution" that Hartford invokes. (AOB at p. 40.) Where a plaintiff is contractually obligated to perform a duty, and in so doing incidentally benefits a third party, the plaintiff is not entitled to recover in quasi-contract for conferring that incidental benefit. This limitation on quasi-contract applies in full force here. Hartford argues that it conferred a benefit on Cumis counsel in the form of defense fees and costs. But just like the physicians in CMA and the health plans in Oregon Laborers, any benefit to Cumis counsel was simply incidental to Hartford's performance of its independent contractual obligations to the Insureds. Hartford cannot now seek restitution from Squire Sanders based on the amount of the benefits that Hartford previously agreed to pay for. To the extent that an insurer contests its obligation to pay defense

^{13 (}See also Santa Clara Valley Water Dist. v. Olin Corp. (N.D.Cal. 2009) 655 F.Supp.2d 1048, 1065 [holding that a water district could not seek restitution of costs of recharging groundwater, as any benefits were incidental to the district's statutory obligation to ensure adequate water supply].)

costs and fees, its dispute lies with its own insureds—the parties with whom Hartford negotiated the obligation in the first place—and not the insureds' counsel.

3. Hartford Cannot Recover In Quasi-Contract For Conduct Covered By An On-Point Express Contract.

In declining to allow claims of restitution or quasi-contract to proceed where the claim is premised on conduct covered by an express contract, courts have long concluded that it would be inappropriate to revise the bargain struck by the parties under the court's after-the-fact assessment of what is "fair" and "just." Here, Hartford and the Insureds bargained for their contract, which defines the parameters of Hartford's duty to defend, and the Insureds and *Cumis* counsel bargained for their contract, which sets out the billing rates and other financial terms of Squire Sanders' engagement as *Cumis* counsel. Hartford should not be permitted to disrupt and revise the terms of these express contracts after the fact.

It is well-established that where two parties enter into a contract that governs a particular issue, those parties cannot recover in quasi-contract for conduct falling within the scope of that bargained-for issue. (See generally 55 Cal.Jur.3d, Restitution, § 5 ["A plaintiff may

not . . . pursue or recover on a quasi-contract claim if the parties have an enforceable agreement regarding a particular subject matter."].)14

"The reason for the rule is simply that where the parties have freely, fairly and voluntarily bargained for certain benefits in exchange for undertaking certain obligations, it would be inequitable to imply a different liability" (Wal-Noon Corp. v. Hill (1975) 45 Cal.App.3d 605, 613.) Further, as the court explained in Hedging, this limitation is necessary because quasi-contract "is an equitable theory which supplies . . . implicitly missing contractual terms. Contractual terms are not implicitly missing when the parties have agreed on express terms regarding that subject." (Hedging, supra, 41 Cal.App.4th at p. 1419.) As a result, "[w]hen parties have an actual contract covering a subject, a court cannot—not even under the guise of equity jurisprudence—substitute the court's own concepts of

^{14 (}See also Lance Camper Mfg. Corp. v. Republic Indem. Co. (1996) 44 Cal.App.4th 194, 203 ["[A]n action based on an implied-infact or quasi-contract cannot lie where there exists between the parties a valid express contract covering the same subject matter."]); Hedging Concepts, Inc. v. First Alliance Mortgage Co. (1996) 41 Cal.App.4th 1410, 1419 (Hedging) ["[T]here is no equitable basis for an implied-in-law promise to pay reasonable value when the parties have an actual agreement covering compensation."].)

fairness regarding that subject in place of the parties' own contract." (*Id.* at p. 1420.)

The same principle applies even when the parties to the lawsuit did not negotiate a contract between *themselves*. Rather, as the Court of Appeal explained in *CMA*, a plaintiff may not raise a quasicontractual claim where "the *subject matter* of such claim... was governed by express contracts." (*CMA*, *supra*, 94 Cal.App.4th at pp. 172-173, italics added.) Where, as here, a plaintiff has entered into a contract governing a particular subject, and negotiates for certain rights and obligations as part of that contract, it has no valid claim in equity that the results of that contract are so unjust as to require restitution.

4. Hartford's Proposed Right of Action Would Run Counter To The Well-Established Prohibition Of The Assignment Of Legal Malpractice And Related Claims.

Moreover, affording breaching insurers an unprecedented right to seek reimbursement directly from *Cumis* counsel would effectively assign the *client-insureds*' claims against their counsel (claims that are necessarily different than an insurer's reimbursement claim against its insured, see *ante*, at p. 35, fn. 11) to a third party outside of the attorney-client relationship (i.e., the insurer), and would thus run afoul

of the longstanding prohibition on assigning a client's legal malpractice or related claims to third parties. (See generally *Musser*, *supra*, 28 Cal.4th at p. 286 [reaffirming the general rule that "legal malpractice claims are not assignable or subject to subrogation absent express statutory authorization"]; *Fireman's Fund Insurance Co. v. McDonald, Hecht & Solberg* (1994) 30 Cal.App.4th 1373, 1383-1384 [same].)

In *Kracht, supra*, 219 Cal.App.3d at p. 1021, the Court of Appeal explicated the reasons for the rule against the assignment of legal malpractice and related claims when a client attempted to assign his claims against his attorneys to a judgment creditor:

the attorney owes a duty of undivided loyalty and diligence in representing the client. Such duty is personally owed by the attorney and may not be delegated to others, and is owed solely to the client, his one intended beneficiary. Assignability would encourage commercialization of claims, and would force attorneys to defend themselves against persons to whom no duty Moreover, the legal profession is was ever owed. debased by such commercialization, because it could (1) encourage unjustified lawsuits; (2) generate increased malpractice lawsuits, burdening the profession, the court system and (to the extent malpractice premiums would inevitably rise and be passed to the consumers) the public: champerty. and (3) promote [citation] Assignability could conceivably reduce the public's access to legal services, since the ever present threat of assignment by irresponsible clients (seeking quick financial gain) could cause lawyers to evaluate more

selectively the desirability of representing a particular client.

(*Id.* at pp. 1023-1024.)

Allowing a third-party insurer to bring a claim for reimbursement against an insured's independent *Cumis* counsel would similarly encourage the proliferation of lawsuits against counsel and degrade the attorney-client relationship between insureds and their *Cumis* counsel. (*Ibid.*, see also *Musser*, *supra*, 28 Cal.4th at p. 287 ["California courts have consistently held legal malpractice claims are nonassignable to protect the integrity of the uniquely personal and confidential attorney-client relationship'"].) The insurer's interest in minimizing its own financial exposure, even at the expense of the effectiveness of the insureds' representation, may induce insurers to file reimbursement suits against *Cumis* counsel in an attempt to nickel-and-dime independent counsel after the underlying litigation has concluded.

Insurers would obviously have incentives to challenge counsel's conduct even where the insureds may not take issue with their attorneys' performance. In every case, regardless of result, an insurer that is allowed to sue *Cumis* counsel directly for reimbursement may be able to recover some already-spent defense

costs by claiming that *some* decision made or tactic used by counsel in retrospect could be argued not to have been strictly necessary. As a result, Hartford's proposed rule would result in the proliferation of lawsuits against counsel, creating the sort of "satellite litigation" that this Court has disapproved of in the past. (*Haynie v. Superior Court* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 1061, 1075.)

This Court should accordingly reaffirm the longstanding prohibition on the assignment of claims like Hartford's, and prevent insurers from usurping the client's role in deciding whether to challenge their attorneys' conduct.

5. A Breaching Insurer Lacks Standing To Invade The Relationship Between The Client-Insured And *Cumis* Counsel.

Finally, allowing insurers to sue *Cumis* counsel directly for reimbursement of fees associated with defending the client-insureds would also wrest control and decision-making authority out of the hands of the only parties properly entitled to call into question the performance of their attorneys—the client-insureds—and place it in the hands of an interloper (i.e., the insurer). But breaching insurers lack *standing* to raise quasi-contractual claims arising out of *Cumis*

counsel's representation of the client—only the *client* has standing to raise such claims.

This follows from cases such as *Goodley v. Wank & Wank, Inc.* (1976) 62 Cal.App.3d 389, 392, where the Court of Appeal recognized that a third-party not part of the attorney-client relationship lacked "standing to bring [an] action for legal malpractice." The plaintiff there, like Hartford here, lacked standing under well-established principles of contract law: only the contracting parties (the attorney and the client) or an intentional beneficiary of that contract had standing to challenge the attorney-client relationship. "An attorney has but one intended beneficiary, his client [citation], and no one other than plaintiff's assignor was intended to be benefitted by defendants' performance." (*Id.* at pp. 396-397.)¹⁵

Here, the Insureds contracted with Squire Sanders to represent the Insureds as *Cumis* counsel. Because Hartford breached its duty to

¹⁵ CMA applied this same reasoning in rejecting a quasi-contract claim by a third party seeking to insert itself into a contractual relationship far less fundamental to our legal system than the attorney-client relationship. (CMA, supra, 94 Cal.App.4th at p. 173 ["[S]ince [plaintiffs] were strangers to the [contracts], CMA . . . lacks standing to the extent it now attempts through its quasi-contract claim either to affirm or to void any portion of those contracts."] [italics added].)

defend the Insureds, it lost the right to negotiate *Cumis* counsel's rates during the course of the Avganim action. (See *ante*, at p. 20.) Under these circumstances, the only party from whom Hartford can properly seek reimbursement of allegedly excessive or unreasonable fees is the party with whom it contracted: the Insureds.

V. CONCLUSION

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